TUNBRIDGE WELLS COMMONS CONSERVATORS

Minutes of a meeting held via videoconference on 26th January 2023 at 2pm

PRESENT:

Cllr Martin Brice

Paul Burnett

Ewen Cameron (Outgoing Chairman)

Amii Errington

Stephen Lacey

Ian Marshall (Incoming Chairman)

Chris McHugh

Cllr Justine Rutland

Cllr Nicholas Pope

Clare Sinha

Corin Thoday

ATTENDING:

Daniel Colborne (Ranger)

Alan Leale-Green (Treasurer)

Gemma Stapeley (Clerk)

Clive Evans (The Friends of the Commons)

Cllr Paul Gripper (Rusthall Parish Council)

Joy Podbury (The Friends of the Commons)

MINUTES

1. DECLARATION OF BUSINESS INTEREST

There were no business declarations.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies were received however, Cllr Jamie Johnson was absent from the meeting.

3. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN

In accordance with the third Schedule of the County of Kent Act 1981 it was noted that the Conservators are required at the first meeting held on or after 1 January each year to appoint a Chairman for the ensuing year. Conservators agreed that Ian Marshall, representative of the Freehold Tenants, be appointed as Chairman until the quarterly meeting of the Conservators in January 2024.

Ian Marshall continued as Chairman

The outgoing Chairman, Ewen Cameron, was thanked for his service during the last twelve months, moving the Commons Conservators forward in a very positive way.

4. PRESENTATION ON S106 FUNDING

David Osborne had prepared and distributed a document entitled "Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall Commons Funding – Summary" in advance of the meeting and provided a short presentation on the main points as follows:

- Main question, do the Conservators feel that the current level of funding is sufficient?
- The only realistic option to increase funding, in the medium term, would be to increase S106 contributions from developers in Tunbridge Wells.
- Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) Planning have supported contributions of £200 per unit for recent applications, it is recommended that this be increased to £1,000 per unit, index linked. This amount is to mitigate the negative impact of the incremental footfall over a period of 100 years, improving utility, appearance and ecology.
- In addition, there would be payments to acquire alternative sites and support recreation facilities in the Borough which would be set at £5,000 per unit.
- Both figures align with Ashdown Forest contributions (SAMMs and SANGs) which have been approved by TWBC Planning as acceptable and appropriate.
- Current TWBC S106 policy reflects Government policy set out in the National Planning Policy 2012 (para 203-206), three tests to be met are: necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
- Extensive opportunity to utilise the enhanced S106 funding on the Commons.

It was agreed that the Clerk would open discussions with the Head of Planning, using the points raised in David's paper.

Action: The Clerk to discuss with TWBC Planning and report back to Conservators at the next meeting.

5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 22^{nd} September 2022 and 8^{th} December 2022 were considered and approved. A copy to be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The minutes of the Committee meetings held on 3rd October 2022, 14th November 2022, 8th December 2022 and 9th January 2023 were considered and approved and would also be signed by the Chairman.

The Committee were thanked for all of their work.

7. MATTERS ARISING

From the last meeting on 22nd September and 8th December 2022

Grass Management

The grass cutting contractor has indicated at 2% increase on costs for a further twelve-month contract extension.

Notices on the Commons

There wasn't an update on the relatively new signage outside properties on Bishop's Down Road stating "Private Parking for Flat/House by order of the Manor of Rusthall".

Action: The Clerk and IMarshall to investigate the signage issue further.

Meeting room bookings for 2023

JRutland reported that the company contracted to manage the Town Hall space, Town Square, will be employing a Community Manager and that community rates may be made available in the future.

IMarshall made a request that the meeting scheduled for 13th July should be an in-person meeting rather than on Zoom.

Action: The Committee to coordinate feedback on the request.

8. MEMBERSHIP

The under mentioned Conservators were appointed by the bodies specified to serve for the period indicated.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council – one-year term end 31 December 2023

Councillor Martin Brice Councillor Jamie Johnson Councillor Nicholas Pope Councillor Justine Rutland

Freehold Tenants – 2nd year of three-year term until 31 December 2023

Stephen Lacey Ian Marshall Chris McHugh Clare Sinha

Manor of Rusthall – 1st year of three-year term until 31 December 2023

Paul Burnett Ewen Cameron Amii Errington Corin Thoday

9. ANNUAL REVIEW FEEDBACK

The Committee and Officer team held an annual review session on 4th January 2023. The purpose of the session was to review what had gone well and less well in 2022, where focus should be directed in 2023 and any budget implications. Key points under the focus area headings were as follows:

Projects

- Good progress with a more co-ordinated and inclusive approach to identifying and developing projects in line with overall priorities.
- Kate Ryland's ecological management plan will start to drive project prioritisation later in the year.
- Joy Podbury is doing a great job leading the Projects group.

Funding

• Good progress on unlocking alternative sources of funding, though the need to push this is becoming more acute with rising costs and increased demands on the budget.

Community Outreach

• Glowing reviews for community and stakeholder outreach. Continue the good work.

Planning Matters

- Positive step change in dealing with planning matters.
- Relationship-building and learning from experience are tangibly increasing our voice and influence on matters affecting the Commons.
- Lessons provided that will improve the approach to future sensitive applications.

Management and Maintenance

- Ranger's way of working Having considered options provided by the Ranger, the Committee recommended that the Ranger be equipped with power tools to carry out some of the work on the Commons. Investment in tools pays for itself very rapidly by reducing contractor callouts for odd jobs. The Conservators approved this proposal. The further options for a vehicle, storage and office space need further investigation of opportunities, relative costs, savings and risks.
- Trees At the time of the review meeting the Ranger was working on plans to provide cost estimates for tree work in the Winter season and for the 2023/24 budget. Tree work to be spread across a number of contractors.
- Health and safety It was agreed that the Clerk and Ranger would take top-up their health and safety training. They would also continue to review and carry out full health and safety assessments across all activities and areas of responsibility.
- IT Support will be requested as and when required.
- General A major priority for the team towards the end of 2023 will be to translate and integrate the ecological management plan into an overall medium-term plan and budget for the Commons, lead the necessary consultation and start to implement its key recommendations. The Committee need to ensure Officers have time and capacity for this.

Action: To follow up on the Ranger's way of working proposals. The Ranger, with support from the Clerk and Treasurer, to analyse current spend on external contractors to see which work could be brought in house and how much could be saved. Also, to explore how a vehicle might be financed and whether there is any scope for external funding for such an arrangement. A summary of this work will be developed into a proposal for the consideration of the Conservators at a future meeting.

10. CLERK'S REPORT

Signage project

The Clerk provided an update on the signage project as follows:

- Brief to replace the majority of the existing signage on the Commons, predominantly the byelaw and
 horse-riding signs. Focus on improving the muddled signage at Fir Tree Road car park, including a
 welcome sign, improved 4-hour parking restriction signage and removal of the unused noticeboard and
 cluttered furniture. Brighton Lake fishing signage will not be included in the brief as the Ranger wants to
 assess impact of fishing and decide on the position going forward. Existing metal posts to be replaced
 with chestnut posts.
- Ashdown Forest style signage has been selected and permission given by them to utilise their artwork, free of charge.
- A fully costed project has been submitted to the Freehold Tenants for funding in 2023.
- It was agreed that the Committee would have delegated power to agree the final signage designs and wording.

S106 funding

There is approximately £10,000 in S106 funds (from Union House/ The Potteries) allocated for restoration of the drainage system around the Racecourse area of Tunbridge Wells Common. The Clerk is making progress, albeit slow, in getting the funding processed by TWBC.

While a quote for a full water management plan has been received from Louise Hooper Landscape Architects the price of £6,527 has been deemed cost prohibitive. As such the Ranger has connected with a natural flood management consultant, recommended by ecologist Kate Ryland, who will be charging approximately £75 for a site visit and providing recommendations for improvement projects and drainage restoration plans which the Ranger will manage, within the S106 budget.

Other work in support of this project has seen the existing drainage infrastructure mapped and reporting to and lobbying Kent Council's Drainage and Flooding team to better manage the existing drainage. The Ranger is also spending time on the Commons, in the rain, to observe flooding patterns and flows of water. He is digging drainage gullies and diversions.

Commons Therapy

There have been two meetings of the Commons Therapy group, since the last Conservators' meeting, organised and facilitated by the Clerk. The group consists of Ashdown Forest, Banstead Commons, Wimbledon and Putney Common, Cleve Common and TW&RC. They continue to be an invaluable opportunity to share information, ideas and resources.

Volunteers

The level of support from volunteers continues to grow from strength to strength.

- Since the last meeting, there have been five Saturday work party sessions.
- Work continues with Community Payback.
- A number of businesses have supported the Commons by using their corporate, social, responsibility volunteering days on the Commons. Since the last meeting Town and Country Housing have provided 10 volunteers on 2 full days, a team from AXA did a half-day session and a Rusthall resident provided a half day in kind.
- Two children are currently working towards their Duke of Edinburgh's Award by volunteering to litter pick on the Commons.

Wildchild Forest School

The Clerk has agreed to help organise the free, forest school sessions on behalf of the Friends of the Commons as they were unable to find a willing volunteer. The events will take place on both Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall Common on the 4th and 5th of April 2023 and will follow the same format as in previous years, delivered by Kent High Weald Partnership. As such, the Clerk asks the Commons Conservators for their permission to hold the event.

Conservators approved the request.

Communication

The Clerk has introduced a monthly email update for Neighbours of the Commons.

TWBC Officers

The Clerk and Ranger continue to make good connections with TWBC Officers as follows:

- A day was spent visiting the parks of the Borough, learning about their management plans and best practise.
- An extensive walk around Tunbridge Wells Common with the Conservation Officers, Landscape and Biodiversity Officer and Tree Officer.
- Meeting with the Tourist Information, where it was agreed that the Clerk would re-write the website pages relating to the Commons.
- Ongoing monthly meetings with William Benson.
- Monthly officer walks are now on hold until the Spring.

Other

- Officers continue to support community safety in responding to the Soroptimist's report "Spotlight on Safety" and in supporting the Reclaim the Night safety walk organised by Jayne Sharratt of Rusthall.
- The Clerk is working with the insurance company in connection with damage caused by an ash tree falling on a car, on the Langton Road, on Monday 9th January 2023 (see the Ranger's report below).

Requests to Conservators

Since the last meeting on 22nd September, the following requests have been put to the Conservators, their outcomes are listed:

Date of request	Detail	Outcome
03/10/2022	Hospice in the Weald run (17 th September	Approved
	2023).	
04/10/2022	Orienteering event.	Approved
14/11/2022	Request to investigate the archaeology of the	Approved
	Bumps	
22/11/2022	Christmas Eve Dog Party	Approved
13/12/2022	Marquee for Linden Park Cricket Club event.	Approved

11. RANGER'S REPORT

Health and Safety

The Ranger reported that a tree had fallen on a car on Monday 9th January. The tree was located on the Langton Road in Rusthall, it had already been identified by the Ranger as suffering from ash dieback and was scheduled to be felled. The Ranger is assisting the insurance company with their enquiries.

Tree safety and surveys

The Ranger explained that it is clear that the severe drought in 2022 has seriously advanced the decline of ash trees affected by ash dieback across the Commons. Whilst there are some ash trees to deal with on TW Common, the main issues are on Rusthall Common as all of the roadsides in that area are lined with ash and dieback has infected all trees to some degree. It is important to stress that some trees are more affected than others and that this 'gradual' decline does allow us to work in a phased way over the course of the next two or three years. It is however not possible to predict how rapidly individual ash trees will decline as chaotic weather events like drought summers and mild or wet winters lead to additional and unpredictable fungal issues and other diseases taking hold rapidly. This means that the Ranger will need to continue to monitor the situation closely and continuously and that any changes in plans will need to be raised to the Committee as and when appropriate going forward.

Initial surveys by the ranger allowed trees of significant concern to be identified and prioritised for urgent works. Work completed so far on ash are as follows:

- Tarry Path (32 Ash trees were removed in 2022)
- Langton Road (2 trees over bus stop at entrance to Langton 2022)
- Denny Bottom (1 tree 2022)
- Common View Meadow (2 trees 2022)
- Tea Garden Lane (7 trees directly over paths and pub 2022),
- Rusthall Road (6 trees 2022).
- Tea Garden Lane (20+ 2023).

The next priorities are individual trees on:

- Apsley Street
- Rusthall Road
- Coach Road
- Langton Road
- Bishop's Down Road
- Adjacent to the Tarry Path

- Further work on Tea Garden Lane
- The easement between Langton Road and Colbran Way, known as Pidgeon Wood.

Having sought specialist advice from a number of tree experts the Ranger is very confident in his approach to managing the removal of such a high number of trees. He has been liaising with the appropriate TWBC Officers and has their approval to move forward with the next stage of the work.

The Ranger feels as confident as is possible that the budget requested for this quarter will be sufficient to deal with the priority trees for this winter. This is of course subject to change if any unexpected issues arise such as storm events or individual trees 'unexpectedly' collapsing for unknown reasons.

There are two (non-ash) trees of significant value that need attention and consideration. One is the large American Oak at the Junction of Church Road and London Road, the other is the Chestnut on the Green at Rusthall Common. Specialist advice is being obtained regarding both of these trees.

Tree Safety Inspections

The Ranger is now operating a continual safety inspection regime whereby his diary is updated weekly following inspections of all roads and all major paths. The survey in the Autumn was conducted on paper and utilising the What3Words App. However, the TWBC GIS mapping online system is now up and running and is proving to be invaluable for audit and archive reasons. All issues with trees are now being logged into this system.

The Tree Consultant, Ben Larkham, will soon be walking Tunbridge Wells Commons with the Ranger, he has suggested his service will be for free or a minimal charge.

Ranger's way of working

Having reviewed all of the expenditure made for maintenance from Quarter 1, 2021 to the end of Quarter 3, 2022, the Ranger has identified the following potential savings that could have been made, had the proposed tools been available:

2021 - 2022: **£17,128** 2022 - 2023: **£11,378**

Ecological management plans

The Ranger has obtained the biodiversity reports from the Kent & Medway Biodiversity Records Office, and they have been passed to the appointed consultant ecologist as part of the review and strategy work that she is undertaking. Further survey updates as follows:

- Bryophyte surveys it is hoped that this survey will take place in February by volunteers at no cost.
- Dormice Surveys The Ranger has contacted another local ecologist who has offered to help install and then survey dormouse boxes. This project will be run alongside schools and the Forest School to ensure maximum educational and community engagement.
- Bird Surveys The ranger is making contact with a local group to arrange for bird surveys to commence as soon as possible.
- Butterfly Surveys Volunteers have been recruited who have a particular interest in butterflies. They will undertake a full 26 week transect survey of both Commons commencing this Spring.
- Bat Surveys The local bat group is being contacted to see if they would be willing to conduct annual surveys going forward. In addition, there is a bat recorder device which fits to the Ranger's iPad which could be purchased at modest cost, this would allow for additional educational and ecological value as part of management and guided walks.

Grass management

The wet weather in October and November ruled out a final cut of the amenity grass areas. This is an issue as the weather overall has been very mild and continues to be so. This means that the grass has continued to grow, albeit slowly, and so looks less attractive in certain areas. The Ranger anticipates that this can be resolved by strimming in February.

Due to the anticipated costs of ash dieback the usual contractor strimming and flail-bot work at Happy Valley has been dropped for this quarter. In future, the Ranger would like to move to a rotational cut cycle for different sections of this area, for ecological as well as aesthetic reasons.

Other

Volunteers from the British Mountaineering Council have successfully cleared the rocks at Bulls Hollow under the supervision of the Ranger. They have also agreed to come and clear the rocks at Happy Valley.

Graffiti is and will always be an ongoing issue and removal is now being undertaken in-house in order to reduce costs. The graffiti on the Wellington Rocks toilet block, owned by TWBC, is of particular concern as it significantly reduces the beauty of the Commons and spoils an otherwise wonderful user experience. The Ranger is determined to find a solution to this extremely ugly issue going forward.

12. FINANCE REPORT

The Treasurer presented the financial activity in the nine months to 31st December 2022, an estimate of the full year accounts to 31st March 2023 and preliminary thoughts on the budget for the year 2023/24.

On 31^{st} December 2022 the Conservators had £132,000 in cash at the bank of which £131,000 is on deposit. This is £23,400 more than the same time last year.

Reserves currently stand at £107,000, £63,000 more than the 25% reserve requirement, but will come under severe pressure in the next quarter. Budget estimates for the next quarter bring the surplus into an overall deficit for the year of £6,500, making the reserves percentage only 23.2%, £3,200 below the mandated level.

Conservators agreed to use the reserves for the estimated deficit and were happy to delay recovery for a couple of years.

Moving onto the 2023/24 budget, the precept is a known amount of £198,052. Considering estimates for administrative expenses, maintaining reserves and contracted costs, that leaves a balance of £83,500 to cover maintenance of the Commons. With this in mind, the Officers, supported by the Committee, will be looking for savings wherever possible for example utilising volunteers and by using the Ranger's skills.

Conservators approved the finance report and agreed that it can be published on the website.

13. UPDATE FROM THE FRIENDS OF THE COMMONS

Memberships

The current memberships stand at 530, down from 550 in September 2022 due to non-payment of subscriptions by some members.

Projects for 2022

The Marlpit path has been completed.

The Friends, in partnership with the Rusthall Historical Society have purchased a display cabinet which will be assembled in the Rusthall Library, it will display some of the archaeological finds from the Rusthall dig. The Friends are also purchasing High Viz jackets for the volunteer groups which will have the Friend's emblem on the back.

The Friends will agree what projects they will fund at their committee meeting on the 29th January.

Events

A very successful Friends' lunch was held at the Spa Hotel, with 85 people in attendance.

The Wildchild forest school sessions will take place in the school Easter holidays, dates to be confirmed with Kent High Weald Partnership, who will deliver it. The cost will be £1500, it is hoped that Targetfollow will again agree to contribute to the cost as they have done so generously in the past.

14. MARKETING AND PR REPORT

The report highlighted that there had been three articles in the Times of Tunbridge Wells during the quarter, on 9th November - walking across the Common at night shouldn't invoke fear, 16th November - S106 contribution to the Commons for the cinema site planning application and 23rd November - white deer spotted locally with a quote from the Ranger.

The Facebook group now has 1,896 members with monthly reactions from members between 994 and 2,147. The most popular posts, during the quarter, related to:

- 1. Work to remove trees affected by ash dieback on Tea Garden Lane (positive comments, impressed with contractor's work).
- 2. Thank you to Ranger Dan for removing lots of mud off the footpath.
- 3. Duke of Edinburgh litter picker.
- 4. Photographic quiz of the Commons, created by one of the members.
- 5. Deer spotted on Bishops Down Road.

The Instagram account has 295 followers, while the website has monthly users of between 374 and 548. Four blogs had been published during the last quarter which had both informed and pushed visitors to the website.

15. FREEHOLD TENANT PROJECTS

IMarshall, on behalf of the Freehold Tenants, provided a summary of the projects that they were proposing to fund as follows:

- Ecological surveys and new management plan.
- Victorian Terraces (Tunbridge Wells Common) to open up the path edges and create glades to allow more light through to the canopy, to enhance biodiversity and wildlife value of flora and fauna.
- Rusthall archaeological dig site Phase 1: clearance of the existing soil spoil and holly, laurel and ash trees to allow the community group to continue to dig around the pond area and open up light and reveal rocks
- Improved signage across both Commons as per the Clerk's report.
- Cherry laurel clearance a further day of cherry laurel clearance on Rusthall Common to eradicate the last of the dense patches of laurel by Alan Martin of Nature Conservation Services.

Conservators agreed to the proposals and thanked the Freehold Tenants for their ongoing support and generosity.

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

i. TWBC's Landscape and Biodiversity Officer

The Clerk proposed that David Scully be invited to present at the next Conservators' meeting to cover S106, tree policy and management plans.

Action: The proposal was agreed by Conservators and the Clerk was asked to invite David to the meeting on 27th April.

ii. Coronation tree and map

The Clerk had been approached by Alexandra Curzon, of The Amelia Scott, to request permission to plant a coronation tree on Tunbridge Wells Common and to create a map collating all of the coronation trees on Tunbridge Wells Common, with background information.

Conservators approved the request.

iii. Dog poo bag dispensers

The Clerk explained that the existing bag dispensers on the Commons had historically been donated by TWBC, as they found that they did not work well in their own parks. Unsurprisingly they still don't work well and do not dispense the bags effectively. The Clerk therefore requested permission to remove the dispensers and supported the request with information from TWBC's Parks department that explained that they were slowly removing their own dispensers from their parks, leaving only the dispensers at the main entrances which would also be removed in time. The Clerk was going to try to arrange for the rolls of dog poo bags to be either sold or given away via the Curly Vera coffee van.

Conservators approved the request.

iv. Environmental Stewardship extension

The paperwork associated with the higher level environmental stewardship agreement extension to cover 01/01/2023 through to 30/09/28 had been received by the Clerk. The Clerk and Ranger had both looked carefully at the proposal and felt that the prescriptions were too onerous to both investigate and enact. The advice of Kate Ryland had also been sought and she suggested that the agreement was probably not now the best way to maximise biodiversity on the Commons and that the prescriptions could be very limiting. Permission was sought to reject the extension offer.

Conservators approved the request; however it was noted by SLacey that the £1,471.60 annual payment had been incorporated into the 2023/24 budget, this would need to be removed and additional cost saving measures considered.

v. Rusthall Forest School

Cllr Paul Gripper extended thanks on behalf of Rusthall Parish Council for all of the work that had been carried out on the Rusthall Forest School area to make it an interesting and exciting learning space.

17. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

22/02711/FULL | Remove a set of existing rear patio doors and windows and replace with new windows and a set of external doors in a larger opening | 83 London Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN1 1EA. Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators as follows: The applicant is reminded that the grass land adjacent to the property access track/road is part of Tunbridge Wells Common and that no materials, tools or equipment can be stored on the land at any time. Further information can be found at www.twcommons.org. UPDATE: Application permitted.

22/02878/FULL | Demolition of the existing garage/workshop building to the rear of the site and the construction of a new detached, two storey dwelling and associated works | 25A Eridge Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN4 8HJ. Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators as follows: The Commons Conservators would like to remind the applicant that the grass either side of the existing site access point, at the front of the property is part of Tunbridge Wells Common and is registered as Village Green (VG22). As such no materials, tools or equipment can be stored on the land and no vehicles can park on the grass. For further information please see www.twcommons.org. UPDATE: Application permitted.

MEETING ENDED

DATE OF NEXT MEETING – 27th April 2023, The Rackliff Centre, Rusthall.

Agreed Actions

Agenda Item	Detail	Responsibility	Progress/update
4	To discuss the content of David Osborne's S106 paper with TWBC Planning and update Conservators at the next meeting.	Clerk	Meeting took place on 10 th February 2023.
5&6	Chairman to sign the minutes of the previous meetings and send to the Clerk.	Chairman	Complete
7	To investigate the relatively new signage outside properties on Bishops Down Road.	Clerk and IMarshall	Complete
7	Request to move the 13 th July meeting from Zoom to in-person, Committee to coordinate feedback.	Committee	Complete
9	To follow up on the Ranger's way of working proposals. The Ranger, with support from the Clerk and Treasurer, to analyse current spend on external contractors to see which work could be brought in house and how much could be saved. Also to explore how a vehicle might be financed and whether there is any scope for external funding for such an arrangement. A summary of	Ranger, supported by Clerk and Treasurer.	Ongoing.

	this work will be developed into a proposal for the consideration of the Conservators.		
16	To invite David Scully to the Conservators'	Clerk	Invited.
	meeting on 27 th April.		

TUNBRIDGE WELLS COMMONS CONSERVATORS

Minutes of a meeting held via videoconference on 13th March 2023 at 1pm.

PRESENT:

Cllr Martin Brice

Paul Burnett

Ewen Cameron

Amii Errington

Stephen Lacey

Ian Marshall (Chairman)

Cllr Justine Rutland

Clare Sinha

ATTENDING:

Daniel Colborne (Ranger) Alan Leale-Green (Treasurer)

Gemma Stapeley (Clerk)

APOLOGIES:

Cllr Jamie Johnson

Chris McHugh

Cllr Nicholas Pope

Corin Thoday

APPROVAL OF THE 2023/24 BUDGET

In advance of the meeting, the Treasurer had distributed a draft budget for 2023/24. The Conservators agreed to adopt the proposed budget.

The Treasurer was thanked for all of his work in preparing the budget.

TUNBRIDGE WELLS COMMONS CONSERVATORS

Minutes of a meeting held in the Rackliff Centre on 27th April 2023 at 2pm

PRESENT:

Cllr Martin Brice

Paul Burnett

Amii Errington

Stephen Lacey

Ian Marshall (Chairman)

Chris McHugh

Cllr Nicholas Pope

Clare Sinha

Corin Thoday

ATTENDING:

Daniel Colborne (Ranger)

Alan Leale-Green (Treasurer)

Gemma Stapeley (Clerk)

Clive Evans (The Friends of the Commons)

Cllr Paul Gripper (Rusthall Parish Council)

OBSERVING:

David Clover

APOLOGIES

Ewen Cameron

Cllr Justine Rutland

1. DECLARATION OF BUSINESS INTEREST

There were no business declarations.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Ewen Cameron and Cllr Justine Rutland. Cllr Jamie Johnson was absent from the meeting.

3. PRESENTATION

David Scully, Landscape and Biodiversity Officer for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) was invited to offer his views and opinions on the future Management Plan for the Commons.

David's presentation consisted of the following main points:

In terms of the management of land there are four key areas of consideration:

- 1. Who is responsible for the land?
- 2. How will work be funded?
- 3. What are you going to do?
- 4. Who will implement the work?

In the case of the Commons, point one is straightforward, the Conservators.

For point two there is the statutory precept, S106 developer contributions and grant funding. S106 contributions have been successfully requested by the Conservators. These obligations must be necessary to make the development; acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the development and fairy and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. To be successful in receiving grant funding, the Conservators should be able to apply under various categories such as public access, communities, heritage conservation and health and wellbeing. A significant amount of work can be required as part of the grant application process, it is worth noting that some funds may require matched funding while others may require a legal arrangement to cover private ownership of the land.

With regard to point three, given that the Commons has many different users, there may well be conflict in the use of the land and therefore a public engagement exercise would be essential. The more the community know about the various issues and constraints affecting the Commons, historical precedence, legal responsibility and the aims and objectives of the Conservatives, then the greater level of understanding and subsequent engagement. David recommended reviewing the document, A Common Purpose prepared by Natural England, as a best practice guide to community engagement for those contemplating management on common land.

For the consultation for the Commons, the Conservators need to consider key questions, such as what the Commons should be providing for the town, there should be opportunity to consult with the community and key stakeholders such as the TWBC Economic Development team, the TWBC Conservation Officer and Kent County Council (KCC) Highways, amongst others. The consultation should aim to identify priorities and not simply move forward with just one view. There should be opportunity to assess whether recommendations are deliverable and can be part of a viable plan. In the case of Southborough Commons, Kent High Weald Partnership (KHWP) ran the consultation exercise.

Finally, regarding point four the Ranger, volunteers, the wider community and contractors can implement the plan.

David was thanked for his valuable contribution and offered to be available for future guidance and support.

Action: The Committee to discuss David's points and make recommendations to the Conservators.

4. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 26th January 2023 and 13th March 2023 were considered and approved. A copy to be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

5. MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The minutes of the Committee meetings held on 6th March and 27th March were considered and approved and would also be signed by the Chairman.

The Committee were thanked for all of their work.

6. MATTERS ARISING

From the last meetings on 26th January and 13th March 2023

Notices on the Commons

Signage outside Westering and Westcote on Bishop's Down Road, stating "Private Parking for Flat/House by order of the Manor of Rusthall" was confirmed by the Clerk as being an arrangement with the Manor and the property owners in the 1980s. No further action required.

Friends of the Commons

It was confirmed that Targetfollow did contribute towards the cost of the free forest school activities on the Commons in April.

7. CLERK'S REPORT

Signage project

The Clerk now has an approved first draft of the byelaw signage, which was included with the 27th March Committee meeting minutes. A QR code providing a link to the website has now been added. The Freehold Tenants are funding this project and revised pricing, based on confirmed numbers of signs, has been agreed.

S106 - Union House/ The Potteries

There are two projects relating to flooding and drainage on Tunbridge Wells Common. One relates to the installation of a new road drainage scheme along Major York's Road and the other relates to drainage improvements around the Racecourse, for which there is £10,000 of S106 funding accrued from Union House.

As an update on the road drainage scheme, in early March 2023, Kent County Council's (KCC) Highways Team conducted investigative bore hole work at the junction of the Racecourse and Major York's Road. Unfortunately, they discovered very shallow ground water levels which means that installing deep bore soakaways will not be an option. As such they have gone away to work on a revised plan.

As an update on the drainage improvements with S106 funding, on 24th February, the Clerk and Ranger met with members of KCC's Flood and Drainage Team, to establish whether they could assist with the flooding project and guide on appropriate use of the S106 fund. The possibility of retention ponds were discussed again but would require appropriate investigative work. The Clerk and Ranger were instructed not to make any significant changes to the drainage system while investigations were ongoing, and options were being considered.

S106 - Discussions with Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) Planning

On 10th February, the Clerk and David Osborne met online with Head of Planning, Carlos Hone (CH), to discuss David's paper requesting an increase in S106 developer contributions, moving in line with Ashdown Forest. The key points were sent to all Conservators in an email on 27th February, but are summarised as follows:

- Carlos acknowledged TWBC's support for the Commons and support for our S106 contribution requests to date.
- He noted interesting points raised in David's paper and would like to share these with the Planning Team to get further feedback.
- The reality is that the Commons are not like Ashdown or the Suffolk Coast (used as a reference by David). They are not internationally recognised and cannot expect the same level of S106 contribution.
- To increase the level of S106 support, TWCC need to have a firm evidence base. Looking on the website, CH couldn't see a detailed management plan which sets out the direction for the Commons, how it is seen and used with costed projects. The Clerk explained that a new ecological management plan and surveys had been commissioned.
- A new management plan would provide weighting for future requests, all other statutory consultees provide such supporting evidence.

Volunteers

Since the last meeting, there have been four Saturday work party sessions, on 4th February, 25th February, 11th March, 1st April. These sessions will revert to monthly until after bird nesting season.

The Ranger has continued with his weekly volunteering sessions, which are acting as work experience for a number of students.

Since the last meeting, the Clerk has assessed one child on their Duke of Edinburgh volunteering (litter picking on the Commons) and started another two children, with equipment, risk assessment and guidance.

Free forest school activities

On the 4th and 5th of April free forest school activities took place on the Commons, organised by the Clerk, funded by the Friends of the Commons and delivered by Kent High Weald Partnership. Both days were a huge success, helped by great weather, with approximately 300 people in attendance. Children were able to take part in a variety of woodland craft activities, den building, play with a mud kitchen, fire lighting, hapa zome printing and toasting marshmallows. All attendees greatly appreciated the event and expressed thanks for the opportunity to use the Commons. Thanks also goes to the Ranger for his much-needed help.

Funding

The Clerk has submitted funding applications on behalf of the Friends, as the registered charity, and been successful in receiving £1,500 from South East Water's Community Fund and £1,025 from the Round Table. The latter will go towards funding the Ranger's battery-operated tools.

Management Plan

Kate Ryland's Background Data Review document has now been circulated to the Conservators, Friends and wider community; it is also available on our website. There has been a lot of positive feedback. Her recommendations for survey prioritisations (page 12 of the report) will be implemented, with surveys of a wide range of species including bats, birds, dragonflies, lower plants, wildflowers, dormice, butterflies, bees, reptiles and amphibians being conducted by a combination of in-house and consultant led projects. For the purposes of social media, the project is being referred to as the Season of Surveying.

The survey data will be essential to ensure that the true value of the new management plans are realised.

Project work including ash dieback tree management

In the last quarter, a lot of the Clerk's time has been spent managing communications with the community regarding the work to trees affected by ash dieback and the externally funded project work. It is very encouraging to see such high levels of engagement and interest. In terms of lessons for next year, it is clear that communication planning should be more effective, and details should be released much earlier, way in advance of work starting, to enable the community to better understand the justifications and to provide comments and feedback.

Wellington Rocks toilet block

The toilet block at Wellington Rocks is owned by TWBC, but they are not effectively managing the graffiti covering the exterior walls, which looks unsightly and receives a number of justifiable complaints. The Clerk has engaged with a professional graffiti artist to design a sensitive mural for the wall, the theory being that people who graffiti will rarely cover over other artwork. The artist has quoted £2,000 (to include a fix of any damage if the piece is defaced in the first instance). The Clerk and Ranger have secured £1,000 towards the cost from Tunbridge Wells BID. TWBC have confirmed that they will not contribute anything and will not maintain it in the future, as they don't have any funds for this.

The Conservators gave permission for the Clerk to progress a fundraising exercise for the remaining money. Permission was also given to get the mural installed if funding is secured.

Other

- No further updates on the insurance company claim in connection with damage caused by an ash tree falling on a car, on the Langton Road, on Monday 9th January 2023.
- The Ranger and Clerk will be conducting a review of posts and ditches across the Commons to help protect verges and grass that seem to be under greater threat than ever. Many existing posts have been damaged and require repair.
- The Ranger and Clerk met with Alex Green, CEO of Tunbridge Wells BID, to discuss his ideas for a number of sculptures to be installed on the Commons. The Committee provided sound feedback to his proposal, as per the Committee meeting minutes of 27th March, and this will be discussed further with him at their next meeting.
- On 9th February the Clerk and Ranger met with officers from Tunbridge Wells Fire Brigade to assist with a fire plan for Tunbridge Wells Common. Overall, they were supportive of existing measures, but did have some concern about the Marshall Plan area, which was perfectly timed with the project to clear a large area, to better manage the heather and to introduce fire breaks. A visit to Rusthall Common will be scheduled

Requests to Conservators

Since the last meeting on 26th January 2023, the following requests have been put to the Conservators, their outcomes are listed:

Date of request	Detail	Outcome
27/02/2023	Request to hold a family gathering/cricket match on the lower cricket pitch.	Approved
07/03/2023 Request from the Friends to collect donations from visitors to the Commons at events.		Approved

8. RANGER'S REPORT

Health & Safety

Tree incident on Hungershall Park during storm on 31 March. A mature birch tree fell across the road damaging two parked vehicles. Officers are working with the insurance company to provide all required information.

Trees - ash dieback

All 'Zone 1' (trees over main paths and roads) ash trees of concern have now been felled as well as many 'Zone 2' (trees over minor pathways). A further full survey of ash dieback will be conducted during June 2023 when the trees should be in full leaf. The June survey will determine which trees need to be addressed between July, for any urgent issues, and October/November for any other issues that need to be dealt with before winter. Ash dieback will continue to be an ongoing issue for the next few years but the costs going forward are expected to be much more manageable and will reduce annually over time. Savings being made through changes to ways of working and reprioritising tasks has also made a significant impact upon the affordability of dealing with the ash dieback issues.

Trees - tree surveying policy

The Ranger reported that trees are inherently unpredictable and that there are many factors that can cause a tree to fail unexpectedly. Storm events can enhance the risk of potential failures and that given the high number of Zone 1 trees on the Commons, monitoring and management is an essential task. The Ranger confirmed his emerging tree policy as follows:

- 1. The Ranger to continuously monitor and keep a daily tree diary, while undertaking his day-to-day tasks.
- 2. Where appropriate, the Ranger to seek further professional opinion on individual trees, especially in relation to trees of high value e.g., veteran or valuable trees in prominent places.
- 3. The Ranger will continue to drive/walk all roads and Zone 1 paths after all storm events and will keep a diary note of these checks for audit purposes.
- 4. In addition to continual routine proactive monitoring, there will be two formal surveys undertaken by the Ranger each year. One survey in June and one in October/November.
- 5. Tree survey outcomes will now be logged on the TWBC IT app.

As previously reported, there are two trees of significant value that need attention and consideration. One is the large American oak at the Junction of Church Road and London Road, the other is the red chestnut on the green at Rusthall Common. Specialist advice has been obtained regarding both of these trees and they will continue to be monitored carefully this year. Quotes for appropriate remedial work will be requested and work scheduled for October/November as both will require a crown reduction.

Tree surgeons/contractors

While the Ranger is now undertaking some tree work in-house, larger or high-risk trees (complex fell or roadside etc.) are still being dealt with by externally contracted tree surgeons for insurance and health and safety reasons.

The Ranger is developing a preferred supplier list of contractors, consisting of three or four companies who meet quality, health and safety, cost, communication and availability criteria.

Planting of New Trees

A number of new trees have been planted with volunteers at Tea Garden Lane, in the Pidgeon Wood Easement and over the coralroot bittercress by the Tarry Path/Tarry Path Pond. This is for conservation as well as aesthetic reasons and will overtime enhance the biodiversity in these areas.

Dog rose saplings were also planted underneath 10 hawthorns in prominent places around the Commons in March. This will enhance the biodiversity for pollinators and enhance aesthetics.

Ranger's Way of Working

The Ranger provided an update on his Way of Working project, concluding that financial savings due to the new ways of working (less reliance upon contractors, while the Ranger uses supplied tools and based on average spend in 2021/2022) is currently in the region of £18,000 per year. On this basis the procurement of a suitable and appropriate vehicle which helps the Ranger to undertake his role, whilst also providing an open and obvious high level of presence of safety and authority, seems to be affordable.

Action: The Ranger to collate his findings and observations as a complete project proposal for Committee review.

Ecological Management Plans - Surveys

The Ranger reported that the Season of Surveying project will be his main priority for the remainder of the year, the quality of the data obtained is essential to enable production of quality ecological management plans. The Ranger will also be meeting with Kate Ryland on site monthly to ensure that good progress, informed decisions, and appropriate plans are being developed.

The Ranger explained the importance of engaging with the community, he will be asking the public to engage with a mobile phone app called 'iNaturalist'. The app allows and helps the user to identify flora and fauna and to then upload the sighting into a folder, which will provide a map of what species have been sighted on the Commons and a precise location. This data will be invaluable, to better aid understanding of how and where specific areas or habitats can be better managed.

The Ranger is also trying to identify all users of the Commons who have specific, ecological knowledge of where rare and or endangered or habitat sensitive species are located to ensure they remain protected.

<u>Grass Management – proposed wildflower project</u>

The steep grass bank at the very tip of Tunbridge Wells Common, where the London Road and Mt Ephraim meet, is seemingly extremely valuable for wildflowers. The steepness of the bank and a thin soil layer over rock allows the excess nutrients to leach out onto the road, providing depleted nutrient conditions, which are perfect for wildflowers.

It is proposed that the area be managed for low level wildflowers and that a sign be erected on the path to provide detail about the project. At the end of this season the project will be evaluated to measure success and to understand whether changes need to be made for next year.

Conservators approved a request to allow the Ranger to manage the area as a wildflower project.

Grass Management – amenity grass

The first cut of the year was due start in the week commencing 3rd April, but weather conditions delayed this to the 17th April. The first cut is always an issue as the grass is growing quickly but the ground is very wet.

Grass Management - wild grass/woodland

The Ranger will be making changes to the use of the flailbot on the Commons, with input from Kate Ryland. In the past, cutting emphasised on aesthetics, rather than conservation. Moving forward, use of the flail bot and any path side strimming will be very light during the bird nesting season in accordance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 with path side tidying predominantly taking place in the dormant season, late September/October. This will perhaps mean that people will see a difference in how 'tidy' some areas look, this will be a balance that will be kept under close review. The Ranger will be doing more of the localised cutting, including sightline work at junctions, to ensure that a reasonable balance is maintained without compromising on safety.

9. FINANCE REPORT

The Treasurer presented the draft financial accounts for the year to 31st March 2023 and the draft AGAR form for approval after the internal audit.

At the last meeting on 26th January, budget estimates suggested that year end would see an overall deficit for the year of £6,500, when in fact year-end figures, as reported by the Treasurer, show a surplus of £5,500 due to savings made in other areas namely the Ranger's hands on approach, some tree work not undertaken yet and unfavourable weather.

On 31st March 2023 the Conservators had £75,800 in cash at the bank of which £75,000 is on deposit. This is almost identical to this time last year.

Reserves currently stand at £53,296, £6,400 more than the 25% reserve requirement. All were made aware that the budget for 2023/24 will be challenged again by ongoing tree work.

The Treasurer reported that the first instalment of the precept had been paid by TWBC.

10. UPDATE FROM THE FRIENDS OF THE COMMONS

Memberships

The current memberships stand at 529.

Projects for 2023

Two of the projects that the Friends are funding have been completed, the clearance of the heather area and glade at the Marshall Plan area and Phase one of the Denny Bottom (Eales Terrace) clearance. The remaining two, will be done in the Autumn, these are the creation of glades at the junctions between Major York's Road and Hungershall Park and Major York's Road and the racecourse.

The Friends have planted an oak in memory of our beloved late Queen on the grass between Inner London Road and London Road on Tunbridge Wells Common. They are waiting for a plaque to be engraved and then they will have a suitable photo shoot inviting the local press to come along.

The Ranger has also moved the tree planted in memory of Patrick Shovelton, who started the Friends, from the top of Bretland Road to an area more suitable across the road.

<u>Funding</u>

CEvans thanked the Clerk for her work in securing grant funding from South East Water and the Round Table.

Events

The free forest school activities were a huge success with over 300 people attending. Without the huge efforts of the Kent High Weald project, the Clerk, Ranger and Chris Gurr the event would not have been possible. Targetfollow were thanked for their donation.

11. MARKETING AND PR REPORT

The report highlighted that there had been press articles in the TWBC Local magazine, the Times of Tunbridge Wells, Rusthall Life and Langton Life.

The Facebook group now has 1,940 members with monthly reactions from members between 994 and 2,147. The most popular posts, during the quarter, related to:

- 1. Brian Ellis' work in refurbishing the bench on the Commons.
- 2. Motorbikes/cycles causing damage on the Commons, a reminder that they are not allowed.
- 3. Frogspawn in Fir Tree Road Pond (of concern it was noted that there is very little)
- 4. Photographs from the Forest School activities.
- 5. Bore hole digging on the path between the Racecourse and Major York's Road.

The Instagram account has 373 followers, while the website has monthly users of between 374 and 934. Two blogs had been published during the last quarter which had both informed and pushed visitors to the website.

12. RISK MANAGEMENT

CSinha summarised the thorough review of the risk register that had been completed by the Clerk and Treasurer. Conservators agreed that they were satisfied with the method, the risks identified and the management actions.

13. EVENTS

Permission was granted by Conservators for the following events:

- i.Request from Hospice in the Weald to hold a family fun run on race day, in addition to their 5km and 10km runs on Sunday 17th September 2023.
- ii.Request from Hospice in the Weald to hold their family fun run, 5km and 10km run on Sunday 15th September 2024. Details are the same as in previous years.

14. SIGNAGE

Permission was granted by Conservators for the following signage:

Signage associated with the Hospice in the Weald family fun run, 5km and 10km run.

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

i. Extension of agreement to sub-let Linden Park Cricket Club premises.

PBurnett explained that the agreement with Linden Park Cricket Club required a further annual renewal, which was agreed by Conservators.

ii.Romanoff Lodge

A request had been received from the owner of Romanoff Lodge, asking permission from the Conservators to temporarily utilise the area in front of the property (registered Village Green) for contractor parking, a storage unit and material delivery and the area to the right of the property for a skip during building work at the property. The owner would make good on the site at the end of the project, replacing a tarmac drive with a more fitting brick/stone, returfing and replacing a short box hedge. Conservators approved the request.

iii.A264 pedestrian crossing

PGripper had met with Nigel Rowe of KCC Highways to progress the pedestrian crossing project (by St Paul's Church). The first stage of the project would be reduction of the speed limit from 40 to 30mph and then installation of a crossing, which worryingly was reported as likely to take 3-5 years. PGripper will keep Conservators updated on progress.

16. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

23/00542/FULL | Demolition of existing conservatory, construction of new single storey rear orangery, and removal of first floor side window | Wood End Major York's Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN4 8NY

Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators: While the Commons Conservators neither object or support the application, they wish to remind the applicant that the land on either side of the access drive is part of Tunbridge Wells Common, registered Village Green (VG22). As such we have a legal obligation to protect the land and wish to reiterate that no vehicles can park or tools, machinery or materials can be stored on the land.

We have concerns that vehicles have been parking on the Common already, noting the comment made by Mr Hill, other reports from our community and our own observations and as such feel that this work will only exacerbate the problem and cause further damage to the Common.

If the application is approved our Ranger will be paying close attention to this area and will alert the applicant to any breaches that he observes. As such we hope that suitable plans can be made for access, parking and storage.

Should the applicant wish to discuss arrangements further they are advised to contact the Clerk for the Tunbridge Wells Commons Conservators on email, gemma.stapeley@twcommons.org

MEETING ENDED

DATE OF NEXT MEETING – 13th July 2023, The Rackliff Centre, Rusthall.

Agreed Actions

Agenda Item	Detail	Responsibility	Progress/update
3	To discuss David Scully's points and make recommendations to the Conservators.	Committee	Complete
	Chairman to sign the minutes of the previous meetings and send to the Clerk.	Chairman	Complete
	Ranger's way of working: to collate findings and observations as a complete project proposal for Committee review.	Ranger	Ongoing

TUNBRIDGE WELLS COMMONS CONSERVATORS

Minutes of a meeting held in the Rackliff Centre on 13th July 2023 at 2pm

PRESENT:

Cllr Martin Brice

Paul Burnett

Ewen Cameron

Stephen Lacey

Ian Marshall (Chairman)

Chris McHugh

Cllr Nicholas Pope

Cllr Jayne Sharratt

Clare Sinha

ATTENDING:

Daniel Colborne (Ranger)

Alan Leale-Green (Treasurer)

Gemma Stapeley (Clerk)

Cllr Paul Gripper (Rusthall Parish Council)

OBSERVING

David Clover

APOLOGIES

Amii Errington

Corin Thoday

Cllr Pamela Wilkinson

The Chairman acknowledged that Cllr Justine Rutland and Cllr Jamie Johnson had stood down as Conservators and thanked them for their time and contributions. He welcomed Cllr Jayne Sharratt and Cllr Pamela Wilkinson as newly appointed Borough Council Conservators.

1. DECLARATION OF BUSINESS INTEREST

There were no business declarations.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Amii Errington, Corin Thoday and Cllr Pamela Wilkinson.

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 27th April were considered and approved. A copy to be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

4. MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The minutes of the Committee meetings held on 24th April, 22nd May and 27th June were considered and approved and would be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

The Chairman expressed his thanks to the Committee for their time, effort and dedication.

5. MATTERS ARISING

Posts and barriers

A number of posts and barriers need attention across both Commons, which will be addressed by the Ranger. The full review of posts and barriers across both Commons has been put back to the Autumn/Winter due to workload.

Royal Tunbridge Wells Together (RTWT)/Business Improvement District (BID)

The Clerk confirmed that while Conservators had not felt that the proposed sculpture trail was appropriate for the Commons, RTWT were still supportive of the Commons and had contributed towards the costs of the installation of the graffiti mural on Wellington Rocks toilet block.

Ash dieback

The Ranger confirmed that he had completed his June ash tree survey and was compiling a plan of the tree work that was now required.

Ranger's way of working

The Ranger confirmed that he was continuing to work on this project and would be presenting a proposal to the Committee by the end of the year.

Ecological surveys

The Ranger had been pleased to report that great crested newts were present in the Marlpit Ponds but explained that legislative restrictions meant that the newts could not be captured and transported to other ponds on the Commons. Instead, he would be creating suitable conditions that would encourage the newts to expand their habitat areas to other ponds. The Ranger explained that this would be part of the Ecological Management Plans and would also need to be part of the considerations relating to any flood mitigation/attenuation plans.

Himalayan Balsam

The Chairman expressed concerns about the presence of Himalayan balsam to the side of Romanoff Lodge, the Ranger explained he has been managing the area carefully and is monitoring and dealing with the balsam systematically to ensure that it reduces year on year until it is gone.

Rusthall Road pedestrian crossing

PGripper confirmed that Kent County Council had all of the paperwork associated with the request for the crossing and that Greg Clark MP had shown his support for the project too. CMcHugh started discussions about road speed limits, which concluded with Conservators agreeing their position, that all roads crossing the Commons should have a 30mph speed limit. MBrice will raise this at the next Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) Joint Transportation board meeting on 2nd October 2023.

Action: The clerk to coordinate a plan to push forward the speed limit proposal.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

The addition of a risk management agenda item and report, to be presented at each quarterly Conservators' meeting, is intended to assist in the recording and management of risk. It will also ensure that the annual review of the risk register captures all issues and will assist with ratings.

Accidents

Since the last meeting in April, there have been no reported accidents on the Commons.

Incidents

On Sunday 11/06/2023 Kent Police apprehended someone graffitiing on Wellington Rocks. The suspect was invited to attend an interview on 17/06/2023. Targetfollow were asked by the Police whether they would support a prosecution and after Committee consultation it was agreed that they would, and this has been pursued.

Disposable BBQs were a significant fire risk on the Commons last year and have already started to make an appearance this year. A member of the community found a campfire on the Marshall Plan area of Tunbridge Wells Common and helped by putting it out. The new signage gives clear instructions about campfires and BBQs and while there are no guarantees that the instructions will be followed, it does at least clarify the byelaws.

The Ranger has reported four incidents of fly tipping this quarter.

A homeless couple were found to be living in a tent on Tunbridge Wells Common, William Benson (TWBC Chief Executive) provided support in directing the appropriate team at the Council to help the couple and get them moved on with appropriate support.

Risk Register

In accordance with the feedback from the internal audit by Mid Kent Audit, the Clerk will be looking to transfer our current version of the Risk Register to the JPAG best practise guidance format.

Insurance claims

Claim for tree falling on a car on Langton Road (10/01/23), Zurich have now denied liability, they explained that the procedures in place are more than reasonable. The fact that the tree fell prior to it being scheduled for removal is unfortunate but they do not consider that anything could have been done to prevent this incident.

Claim for tree falling on a car on Hungershall Park (31/03/23), Zurich have said that there is no evidence of negligence on the part of Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall Commons, they have now proceeded to deny liability for this claim.

7. CLERK'S REPORT

Volunteers

There have been Saturday volunteering sessions on the Commons on 29th April, 27th May and 24th June. The Clerk would like to thank the Ranger for running these sessions without her, given her recent injury.

On 16th June, a number of employees from Logistics UK used one of their Corporate, Social, Responsibility days to help volunteer on Tunbridge Wells Common.

Update on signage project

The new signs have been produced, have been collected and are ready for phased installation by the Ranger and his volunteers.

S106 – Requests and current status

As an update this is the current status of our requests:

Date		Number of dwellings/increases	Amount	
Requested				Latest update
18/03/2022	WA Turners	94	£18,800	Pending decision.

				05/07/23 TWBC have received the funds
	Beechcroft Eridge		£8,000 (+£42,000	and the Clerk has submitted a request for
23/05/2022	Road	40	contribution)	the funds.
11/07/2022	Showfields Estate	36		Application pending decision. Email from R Hazelgrove on 22/02/2023 re adjustment to S106 from £7,200 originally requested
05/09/2022	Cinema Site	166	£33,200	05/01/2023 - application approved.

Action: The Clerk to find out the timescale for spending S106 funds. The Treasurer to keep a record of how the funds are spent.

Funding

The Sussex Lund fund is now open for applications for projects up to £15,000, with a deadline for submission of 3rd October 2023. The application on behalf of the Friends of the Commons will be for a project from within the Management Plans recommendations, so it will be important that the Ranger gets an early guide from Kate Ryland.

Action: The Ranger to present Sussex Lund project proposals to the Committee at their next meeting on Monday 24th July 2023.

Management Plans

Kate Ryland is scheduled to produce a first draft of the Ecological Management Plans in October. An informal workshop will be organised for Conservators and interested parties, once the draft has been circulated, to enable further discussion and questions with Kate before a final version is approved.

Action: The Clerk to invite David Scully to the workshop when a date is agreed.

Wellington Rocks toilet block graffiti mural

The project has now got funding agreed from The Friends of the Commons and Royal Tunbridge Wells Together/BID and will be started on 19th July. TWBC are aware and insurance and risk assessment documents received.

<u>Public consultation on the Management Plan and overall management of the Commons</u>

Following discussion at the 22nd May Committee meeting, the Clerk has worked with the Committee to produce a public consultation project specification, which has been distributed to all Conservators for review. The document will be used to procure an external company to carry out the project on behalf of the Conservators.

Health & Safety

The Clerk and Ranger are working with a volunteer from the community, who is retired from the risk management and health and safety sector and is offering to review and provide suggested improvements to our risk management system.

The Clerk is currently rewriting the health and safety policy, ensuring that all legal and day to day operational requirements are met. The revised policy will be brought to the October Conservators' meeting for Conservator approval.

The Clerk and Ranger are also working on a number of risk improvements to our administrative and practical operations, for example the addition of Risk Management as an agenda item at each quarterly meeting, purchase of an accident book and ensuring that the Ranger's vehicle has appropriate levels of business insurance.

Other

- South and South-East In Bloom and Britain in Bloom visits by judges took place on the morning of 13th July and are scheduled for the 14th July and 25th July. Results are awaited with anticipation.
- The Ranger and Clerk's review of posts and ditches across the Commons has been deferred to the Autumn/Winter.
- The Clerk attended the Borough Council's Town Centre Study -Stakeholder Feedback Workshop.

Requests to Conservators

Since the last meeting on 27th April 2023, the following requests have been put to the Conservators, their outcomes are listed:

Date of request	Detail	Outcome
	Request to install a bike rack on the corner of Common View.	Approved
	Request to put a skip on and allow contractor parking adjacent to the easement leading to Wood End.	Not approved

8. RANGER'S REPORT

<u>Trees</u>

Ash Die-Back

The June Survey is now complete and all ash trees that require further risk mitigation work in financial year 2023 have been identified, quotes for the work will now be collated and assessed.

Work is/has been managed in three priority categories as follows:

- 1. Mitigation work required immediately or within approximately two weeks.
- 2. Mitigation work is required before the end September 2023.
- 3. Further investigation required in the autumn and/or mitigation work is required by end of March 2024.

The Ranger is very comfortable that the budget allocated for dealing with the steady decline in ash this financial year will not be exceeded.

All Other Trees

The Ranger will be continuously seeking and/or identifying any potential risks presented by our trees. Significant attention is being paid to all roadside trees, with the A26 and A264 being given additional priority due to their high traffic use.

High Value Trees (previously referred to as veteran trees)

The Commons has a number of high value trees. These are deemed as being of high value due to a number of factors such as their age, location, size or historical value. Some trees have only one of these attributes to consider, whereas others can have several or all of them. For example, the Red Chestnut at Rusthall Green has high community/sentimental value due to its location, but the Queen Anne Oak has all of these attributes to some degree. The Ranger and the Committee are currently exploring how best to manage and protect our high value trees going forward, as they require a level of specialist consultancy expertise in order to ensure that they are looked after properly. The Ranger intends to list the top ten high value trees with details of the factors that put them at high value and will get three quotes from appropriate consultants to survey them and provide recommendations. Conservators gave permission to the Committee to have delegated responsibility to manage and approve this project.

Ecological Management Plans

Surveys are progressing well in order to provide the information/data needed to create the first draft of the Ecological Management Plans. Surveying is being undertaken by a combination of consultants, the Ranger and by volunteers.

Progress so far:

- 1. Finalised report for the lower plant (mosses + ferns etc) species at Denny Bottom and Happy Valley has been received. These reflect the picture nationally, with these species declining countrywide. Surveys of Mt Edgcumbe rocks will be explored for 2024.
- 2. EDNA results confirm the presence of great crested newts at the Marlpit ponds in Rusthall. No other ponds on the Commons had a positive result.
- 3. Formal consultancy led bat surveys have focused on Rusthall Common this year with four different species recorded so far. In-house bat surveys will commence on Tunbridge Wells Common in July to. Formal consultancy led surveys for TW Common will however take place next year.
- 4. Botanical surveys (consultancy led and in-house) are proving very fruitful, and many areas have already been highlighted for management changes which are being enacted this year, such as the new wildflower bank
- 5. Bird, butterfly, reptile, and pond surveys are being undertaken by several highly experience volunteers and much valuable data records are being produced.
- 6. Confirmation of a dormouse on the boundary with Nevill Park. Dormouse presence tubes will be put in place during July on both Commons as they are now available.

Grass management contracts

Changes in the Ranger's way of working and recommendations within the Ecological Management Plans will result in a new grass cutting programme. The grass cutting contracts will therefore need to be revisited and new tenders will be created for the 2024 cutting season.

Action: The Ranger to update Conservators on the plans for the grass cutting contract, for the October Conservator's meeting, with a view to giving the Committee delegated power to manage the project.

Tree stump at junction of Church Road and London Road

MBrice asked about plans for the red oak tree stump, the Ranger explained he was considering options, possibly a compass design or water feeder.

9. FINANCE REPORT

Internal audit

The Treasurer reported that the internal audit of last year's accounts had been completed and the necessary documents placed on the website. The audit was more thorough than in previous years but concluded that design and performance of operational controls for the relevant objectives during the 2022/23 financial year were sound.

The final internal audit report noted that accounting records are clear, with quarterly budget reports to Conservator meetings. Members demonstrate engagement and effective governance, and they recorded that recommendations from previous audits have been implemented. Evidence of growth and strategic vision during the 2022/23 year is evidenced by creation of an asset register, strong partnership working with various other bodies, implementation the Ranger's new way of working, and discussion around methods to establish a firm evidence base for increased section 106 applications.

The internal auditors raised two medium priority rated findings, the first relates to the need for formal financial regulations in light of the organisation's development. The second relates to ensuring Commons Conservator data is securely stored. They raised four low priority rated findings around risk identification, employment contracts

and inspection and publication requirements. Finally, they raised three advisory findings relating to the risk register, the asset register, and section 106 records.

Action: Treasurer and Clerk to work through the internal audit recommendations and action. The Clerk to organise a new email address for the Treasurer, @twcommons.org

External audit

The external audit has yet to be scheduled but must be completed by 30th September.

Audits

The Treasurer presented the draft financial accounts for the quarter to 30^{th} June 2023. On 30^{th} June 2023 the Conservators had £142,000 in cash at the bank of which £141,000 is on deposit, with a healthy rate of interest of up to 3%. This is more than £24,000 higher than this time last year. Maintenance of the Commons expenditure is £21,000 under budget and expenditure in total is £25,000 under budget.

10. UPDATE FROM THE FRIENDS OF THE COMMONS

CEvans was unavailable for the meeting but had sent an update report in advance of the meeting as follows:

Projects for 2023

The Chair has now received the plaque in respect of the tree planted in the Queen's memory and will arrange a suitable date for it to be placed at the foot of the tree. Hopefully newspaper coverage can be arranged. The Friends have funded tree safety work in the St Paul's School forest school area on Rusthall Common. The volunteer groups are going from strength to strength with some excellent results for all to see.

Events

The Friends are preparing for the strawberry tea and AGM at the Spa Hotel on the 19th July. In light of the increased cost of producing Common ground they are hoping that the AGM will agree to increase the subscription which has remained the same since the Friends were set up.

11. MARKETING AND PR REPORT

The report highlighted that there had been three press articles in Rusthall Life, JSharratt was thanked for her enthusiasm for covering news from the Commons.

The Facebook group now has 1,987 members with monthly reactions from members between 994 and 2,147. The most popular posts, during the quarter, related to:

- 1. Advance warning of the removal of the red oak at the junction of Church Road and London Road.
- 2. White powder trail on the Commons, thought to be poison, it was in fact marking a running route.
- 3. Roe deer photographed on Tunbridge Wells Common.
- 4. Swedish maypole used to enjoy Mid-Summer on the Common, the question was....what is it?
- 5. Deer photographed on the path to the bumps.

The Instagram account has 420 followers, while the website has monthly users of between 374 and 934. Two blogs had been published during the last quarter which had both informed and pushed visitors to the website.

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

i. Request from Hospice in the Weald

Hospice in the Weald had sent a request, via the Clerk, asking permission from the Conservators to include a bouncy castle in their plans for the 17th September running event. Conservators were concerned about the health and safety risk of using a bouncy castle in windy conditions. While they were happy to grant permission, they wanted to be reassured that all safety measures would be in place and that if windy conditions were forecast, they reserved the right to withdraw permission.

ii. Fairground car park lighting

In response to a question raised by IMarshall, PBurnett confirmed that works to level areas of the car park, to dig trenches for wiring and groundworks were out to tender, with lighting installation anticipated to be completed before October.

iii. Linden Park Cricket Club

PBurnett reported that the company currently sub-letting the second-floor space in the cricket pavilion would be moving out in August.

iv. Cycling on the Commons

In response to a question raised by JSharratt, MBrice confirmed that eight companies had expressed interest in tendering for the project to validate a cycling route from Langton Green/Rusthall through to the town centre.

v. Exercise clubs using the Commons

In response to a question raised by DClover, PBurnett explained that commercial exercise clubs and personal trainers should be paying a licence fee to use the Commons. A letter was being produced, to explain the requirement for a licence, to be distributed to groups by the Clerk and or Ranger.

13. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

 $23/00705/FULL \mid Single \ storey \ lower \ ground \ floor \ extension \ with \ new \ steps \ access \mid Dingley \ Dell \ Langton \ Road \ Royal \ Tunbridge \ Wells \ Kent \ TN4 \ 8XG$

Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators: While the Commons Conservators neither object or support the application, they wish to remind the applicant that the land surrounding the boundary wall of the property is part of Rusthall Common, registered Village Green (VG23) and Local Wildlife Site (LW24). As such we have a legal obligation to protect the land and wish to reiterate that no vehicles can park, or tools, machinery or materials can be stored, on the land.

In the last year, there have been significant issues with contactor vehicles parking on Rusthall Common and in unsafe locations at the junction of Rusthall Road and Langton Road, while the current building project at Dingley Dell is under construction (planning application 20/01474/FULL and 20/03543/FULL). Despite the intervention of Conservators' Officers, TWBC Planning Enforcement and the local Kent Police PCSO the situation has continued to cause damage to the land and worrying traffic safety issues.

If this application is approved, we urge the applicant to consider a practicable plan for access, parking and storage, potentially utilising their land on the golf course, behind the property, rather than in front of it. We ask

that our request is included as an informative.

While we have been informed that this is not a matter for planning legislation, we feel strongly that it is not a matter that should be ignored.

Should the applicant wish to discuss arrangements further they are advised to contact the General Manager of Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall Commons on email, gemma.stapeley@twcommons.org

23/01340/FULL | Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of two storey replacement dwelling | South Lodge Nevill Park Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN4 8NW

Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators: While we neither object or support the application, the Commons Conservators wish to remind the applicant that the land on either side of the entrance from Nevill Park off Major York's Road up to the white entrance gate is Tunbridge Wells Common, registered Village Green (VG22), as such no tools, equipment or materials can be stored and no vehicles can park, on the Common.

The Ranger to the Commons Conservators, is a trained ecologist and has a confirmed sighting, with video footage, of a torpid dormouse in the garden boundary of the property directly opposite South Lodge on 26th April 2023. Dormice are a protected species listed in the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Given the uninhabited state of the proposed development it is very likely that the hedgerow boundary, the surrounding vegetation and the existing property itself will have this species nesting and residing within. We would therefore insist that a professional ecologist be on site to respond to any disturbance as demolition occurred. We would also like to request that the applicant provide 10 dormice boxes that can put up on the Common, in the vicinity prior to any works commencing, to aid their transfer to new habitat.

Should the applicant wish to discuss the matter further, the Clerk can be contacted at gemma.stapeley@twcommons.org

MEETING ENDED

DATE OF NEXT MEETING – 19th October 2023, The Rackliff Centre, Rusthall.

Agreed Actions

Agenda Item	Detail	Responsibility	Progress/update
3&4	Chairman to sign the minutes of the previous meetings and send to the Clerk.	Chairman	Complete
5	To create a plan to push forward the proposal for a 30 mph speed limit across the Commons.	Clerk	Ongoing
7	To find out the timescale for spending S106 funds and to keep a record of how the funds are spent.	Clerk and Treasurer	Treasurer has created a spreadsheet to record funds and spend, all managed by the Officers with approval from TWBC.
7	To present Sussex Lund project proposals to the Committee at their next meeting on Monday 24 th July 2023.	Ranger	Application submitted.

7	To invite David Scully to the ecological management plan workshop when a date is agreed.	Clerk	David is happy to attend.
8	To update Conservators on the plans for the grass cutting contract, for the October Conservator's meeting, with a view to giving the Committee delegated power to manage the project.	Ranger	Ongoing.
9	To work through the internal audit recommendations and action. The Clerk to organise a new email address for the Treasurer, @twcommons.org	Clerk and Treasurer	*See audit findings below All complete/being actioned.

• Audit findings

Data Security -

Recommendation: Ensure that all data is stored and accessed securely through OneDrive, to avoid any potential loss of information kept outside of the organisation's chosen cloud service.

Internal Procedures (Financial regulations) -

Recommendation: The organisation should refer to point 5.39 of the JPAG Guidance to produce a clear set of Financial Regulations. This states that 'Model versions of Standing Orders and Financial

Regulations are provided by NALC and ADA. Authorities should ensure that they are working from the latest model and that it has been appropriately adapted for their size and requirements. This should be reviewed and minuted annually.'

Existing policies and approved processes regarding Procurement, Payment Approvals, Salary Review and Reserve levels could be included within the financial regulations document.

Inspection Rights -

Recommendations:

- 1) The Commons must answer 'no' to Assertion 4 of the Annual Governance Statement for 2022/23.
- 2) For this year, the organisation must ensure that it makes proper provision for the exercise of public rights by following the key points below, as specified by the JPAG:
- a 30-working day inspection period (this excludes weekends and public holidays), with accounts and supporting records being made available at reasonable times;
- the notice period should commence as soon as possible after approval of the accounts by the authority and must include the first 10 working days of July;
- the announcement of public rights should be as soon as practicable after the approval of the AGAR
- it must give at least one day's notice of commencement and be published together with sections 1 and 2 of the AGAR.

Publications requirements -

Recommendation:

1) An amended version of Section 1 of the 21/22 AGAR, to reflect the external auditor's feedback, should be uploaded to the website for public availability.

- 2) The document showing the notice of the period to inspect the unaudited accounts should be uploaded with Sections 1&2 of the AGAR, and should remain on the website. (Any amendments required by the external auditors should be made, and the revised document should be published).
- 3) A best practice improvement would be to upload a copy of the Annual Internal Audit Report page of the AGAR to the website with Sections 1 & 2.

Employment contracts -

Recommendation: Ensure an employment contract is in place for all statutory positions.

Risk Identification -

Recommendation:

- 1) Risks associated with the organisation's reliance on technology should be reflected within the risk register and mitigated against.
- 2) The risk register should include identified risks relating to current assets and associated mitigation.

Risk Register -

Recommendation:

- 1) The organisation should revise the risk register to clearly identify the score of the uncontrolled risk and include a column to rate the controlled risk.
- 2) If columns are included, they should be completed consistently.

Asset Register -

Recommendation:

- 1) The AGAR should be revised to reflect the assets as at purchase value.
- 2) The factors at which a purchase becomes an asset should be determined. As recommended by JPAG guidance 5.63, 'the method of asset valuation adopted should be set out in a policy approved by the authority and recorded in the authority's minutes and in the asset register'. (This could be included in the internal financial procedures document from finding B).
- 3) A column for location of the specified asset should be added to the register.
- 4) The organisation should aim to adopt an asset register that reflects the JPAG guidance.

S106 Records

Recommendations:

- 1) The organisation should ensure that it maintains the spreadsheet on OneDrive. This should reflect dates of s106 applications, updates, approvals and payments. Additionally, any conditions attached to s106payments should be recorded and adhered to.
- 2) Continue to report s106 data at the Conservator meetings within the Clerk's quarterly report.

TUNBRIDGE WELLS COMMONS CONSERVATORS

Minutes of a meeting held in the Rackliff Centre on 19th October 2023 at 2pm

PRESENT:

Cllr Martin Brice

Paul Burnett

Ewen Cameron

Amii Errington

Stephen Lacey

Ian Marshall (Chairman)

Chris McHugh

Cllr Nicholas Pope

Cllr Jayne Sharratt

Clare Sinha

ATTENDING:

Daniel Colborne (Ranger)

Alan Leale-Green (Treasurer)

Gemma Stapeley (Clerk)

Clive Evans (Friends of the Commons)

OBSERVING

David Clover

APOLOGIES

Corin Thoday

Cllr Pamela Wilkinson

Cllr Paul Gripper (Rusthall Parish Council)

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

1. <u>DECLARATION OF BUSINESS INTEREST</u>

There were no business declarations.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Corin Thoday, Cllr Pamela Wilkinson and Cllr Paul Gripper.

3. PRESENTATION FROM LINDEN PARK CRICKET CLUB: PROPOSED CAFÉ

Robert MacGregor (Chair) and Jamie Wilson (Executive Committee Member) of Linden Park Cricket Club (LPCC) attended the meeting, to further discuss a proposal document provided in advance, for a café to operate from their Club house. Notwithstanding the fact that the Upper Floor of the pavilion has previously been permitted to be used as an office space and nursery, the concept of using the ground floor as a coffee shop raises other concerns that require further consideration.

On a cricketing level, LPCC are a thriving and significant part of the local community, however, financially the Club is struggling.

The Club are proposing to work with independent provider, Paul Woodhouse, who set up and runs Coffee Station, a local business operating out of Tunbridge Wells and High Brooms railway stations and AXA PPP Offices. The café would provide flexible food and drink including hot and cold drinks, snacks and sandwiches, to eat on the premises and to take away with opening days and times to be agreed by all parties. Other aspects of the logistics were discussed but have yet to be confirmed as it is the principle that LPCC are requesting Conservator permission for, at this stage.

In summary, the Conservators expressed support for the Cricket Club but highlighted several concerns in terms of the impact of a café on the commons. It was agreed that comments and all further questions for LPCC should be sent through to the Clerk, who will liaise with Robert McGregor and Jamie Wilson to collate feedback and responses.

Action: Clerk to collate comments and feedback to LPCC and then share their responses with all.

4. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 13th July 2023 were considered and approved. A copy to be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

5. MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The minutes of the Committee meetings held since the last quarterly Conservators' meeting on 24th July, 4th September and 2nd October 2023 were considered and approved and would be signed by the Chairman and returned to the Clerk.

6. MATTERS ARISING

Fairground car park lighting

PBurnett confirmed that the new lighting car park lighting installation was commencing in the last week of October.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

Accidents

Since the last meeting in July, there has been one accident reported on Tunbridge Wells Common. On 27th May a member of the community was walking near Linden Park Cricket pitch and decided to deviate from the mown path to the benches set back from the outfield, and fractured their right ankle as they stumbled in a rabbit hole. The Clerk and Ranger investigated and concluded it was an unfortunate accident and that other than advising people to exercise caution when deviating from paths, no further actions to manage the land differently were identified.

Incidents

- Kent Police issued a conditional caution to a Mr K for the graffiti damage to Wellington Rocks on 11th June 2023, Mr K also sent an apology letter to the Conservators. Mr K spent a morning on the Common, assisting the Ranger, working together to cover the graffiti.
- Kent County Council's contractor, Amey, struck an oak tree limb, while working on Castle Road.
- Damage/removal of the information panels located on the Lower Cricket Pitch and by Fir Tree Road car park.
- Graffiti on the bin and barrier at the Lower Cricket Pitch and up on Mount Ephraim.

• Red spray paint on a bench at the top of Mt Edgcumbe Road.

Campers

In the last quarter:

- Rough sleeper staying on the veranda of the Wellington Rocks toilet block.
- Small tent on Rusthall Common, alongside a path entered by 8 Rusthall Road.

Fly-tipped waste

In the last quarter:

- Ten bags of garden waste and soil dumped on Rusthall Common by Eales Terrace.
- Pallets dumped at Denny Bottom.
- Large suitcase dumped by Brighton Lake.
- Television on Coach Road.
- 60 empty cannisters of nitrous oxide on Castle Road.
- Three tyres on Tea Garden Lane.

Health & Safety Policy

The Clerk has created an updated policy, for Conservator approval, see agenda item 15.

Complaints

There were no recorded complaints in the previous quarter.

Risk Register

In accordance with the feedback from the internal audit by Mid Kent Audit, the Clerk has rewritten the Risk Register to follow the JPAG best practise guidance format, approved by the Conservators.

Insurance claims

There are no active insurance claims.

8. CLERK'S REPORT

Volunteers

There have been Saturday volunteering sessions on the Commons on 29th July, 26th August and 30th September, with the Ranger continuing to host weekday sessions with a small group of dedicated volunteers.

S106 – Requests and current status

As an update this is the current status of our requests:

Date Requested	Property	Number of dwellings/increases in dwellings	Amount requested	Latest update
18/03/2022	WA Turners	94	£18,800	Pending decision.
23/05/2022	Beechcroft Eridge Road		£8,000 (+£42,000 contribution)	Funds are now in the bank account.
	Showfields			Application pending decision. Email from R Hazelgrove on 22/02/2023 re adjustment to S106 from £7,200
11/07/2022	Estate	36	£3,377.75	originally requested

05/09/2022	Cinema Site	166	£33,200	05/01/2023 - application approved.
				or, or, = o=o the production of the production o

In relation to the Beechcroft funding the Clerk has several suggestions as follows:

£8.000 S106 fund:

• A public consultation on the draft Ecological Management Plans.

£42,000 contribution:

- High value tree survey and associated works.
- Education material species spotting sheets, posters for noticeboards etc. to potentially launch at the Forest School sessions in Easter 2024.
- To fund a series of guided walks e.g., fungi, bat, wildflowers etc.
- Projects suggested within the Ecological Management Plan.

The suggestions will form part of the wider plans to be made once the Ecological Management Plan has been received and resource identified for the targets within.

Project Group

The Project Group, consisting of the Ranger, Ian Marshall, Joy Podbury and the Clerk have met to start planning the project funding requests and plans for 2024. Full details are available from the Clerk, with the final plans being put in front of the Conservators at the January 2024 meeting for their approval.

Planning – Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is a working policy which would make it a legal requirement for a developer to demonstrate and implement a measurable net gain for biodiversity of 10% on the site being developed, or on an alternative off site location, if more practicable. The latter will be managed by a new statutory biodiversity credits scheme. The legislation was due to be implemented from 1st November 2023 but has been delayed until January 2024, while some aspects of the legislation are being fine-tuned.

Since 2021, the Clerk had been asking TWBC Planning if the Commons could be an off-site net gain provider and had been told that it wasn't possible, however intervention from Cllr Osborne in July 2023 changed their views and as such we have recently been included:

David Scully has confirmed in writing that: in the event that Tunbridge Wells and Rusthall Common become a registered site for the provision of offsite Biodiversity Units under the Environment Act 2021 the Council would encourage developers to consider using Biodiversity Net Gain credits from the Commons subject to the proper application of all the guidance, rules and regulations that are in force at that time.

If the Commons were to become registered, it could be selected to use biodiversity net gain credits for a development within the Borough, it does not need to be within a certain distance, unlike S106. However, the habitat secured/management implemented by the credit must be secured for at least 30 years via planning obligations or conservation covenants.

Becoming a registered site will have costs, specifically we would need a baseline assessment to record the enhanced level of biodiversity against and we would also need to get consultant advice on how many units the Commons could generate with specific management and at what cost. The Clerk has contacted the consultants that have worked for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and has received a quote for feasibility and baseline assessments which will be further considered at the next Committee meeting, along with an evaluation of the

opportunities for the Commons as an off-site net gain provider and importantly whether the level of investment needed would see an appropriate return in reality.

Funding

The Ranger applied to The Sussex Lund Fund for a three-year project to improve the biodiversity, aesthetic appeal and safety of the Victorian Terraces area of Tunbridge Wells Common, extending the first phase of the project which was started this year with Freehold Tenant funding. The Sussex Lund Grants Panel meets to consider applications in December and a decision will be communicated by the end of December 2023.

Waste collection and disposal

There are two contracts for managing the waste generated from the Commons; the litter bin servicing contract, currently with LML, which requires the emptying of the individual litter bins into the large 1100 Litre bins and the waste disposal contract, currently with Countrystyle, to empty and dispose of the waste from the large 1100 Litre bins.

The waste disposal contractor, Countrystyle, has implemented a 10% price increase from 1st October 2023. To ensure value for money, the Clerk has collated three prices for the work from three waste management companies, including the incumbent. The Clerk and Treasurer have concluded that while Countrystyle's price is the midpoint, representing a £200-300 additional cost when compared to the cheapest quote, their servicing has been exemplary to date, and this has a significant value. With approval from the Committee, the contract will stay with Countrystyle for a further 12 months.

The Clerk will be conducting a repricing exercise for the litter bins servicing contract in January 2024.

Wellington Rocks toilet block

During week commencing 17th, July Humor Street Art created a treescape scene on the Wellington Rocks toilet block, incorporating native butterflies. The work was funded by the Friends of the Commons and Royal Tunbridge Wells Together (BID). We have received significant positive feedback from the community.

Other

- Tunbridge Wells Common received a gold award from South and South-East In Bloom in the Commons and Open Spaces category. Detailed feedback from the judges is available from the Clerk.
- The Clerk has worked with the Rusthall Bonfire Committee to create a revised version of the material specification for the materials accepted for the bonfire to reduce harmful pollutants for both our wildlife and human health.
- The Clerk has facilitated two meetings of the Langton Road speed reduction working group. Progress has been reported in the Committee minutes. The first request to KCC Highways was rejected, but a follow up meeting with Rusthall Parish Council, KCC Highways and KCC's Cllr James McInroy is scheduled to discuss an appeal/or next steps.
- The Clerk and Ranger have been engaging with Hilary Smith of TWBC's Economic Development Team and their cycle route appointed contractor, to ensure that the views of the Conservators and indeed the legal restrictions of the land are considered with any proposed cycle route between Langton/Rusthall and town.
- The Clerk led a walk on Tunbridge Wells for Greg Clark MP and his team, to update him on progress and achievement on the Commons over the last twelve months.

Requests to Conservators

Since the last meeting on 13th July 2023, the following requests have been put to the Conservators, their outcomes are listed:

Date of request	Detail	Outcome
6 th September 2023	Nevill Park replacement signage.	Approved.

9. RANGER'S REPORT

Trees:

Ash Die-Back

The issue of ash dieback continues to be closely monitored and managed as a critically important priority across the two Commons. The strategy for mitigation works for 2023 was set out in the July 2023 Ranger's Report and the Ranger has worked within that strategy to categorise and prioritise tree issues accordingly.

Extensive work at Tea Garden Lane/Colbran Way/Pidgeon Wood commenced on the 2nd October and was completed on Wednesday 11th October. This area had a very high number of ash trees which were in decline but the two-year project to make this specific area (over houses, roads and major paths) safe has now been completed.

Work to remove declining roadside ash has been taking place throughout the year with three different contractors being employed. A fourth contractor, Gimbles, was successful with their quote to remove eight priority trees along Rusthall Road, this work commences on the 14th November 2023.

The Ranger is currently commencing the Autumn tree safety/condition survey as this is when the different tree related fungi appear. This survey will determine which additional trees will need work and what category of prioritisation needs to be placed upon the required works.

All Other Trees (excluding Ash)

This Autumn the Ranger is specifically identifying trees that can be known to be prone to high wind events as they age, where they are by roads or major paths. In the last year the Ranger has removed a high number of roadside/path side birch proactively due to their age and potential condition. Going forward the annual tree management budget will need to include the necessity for an ongoing programme of removal/pollarding of these species for the sake of safety.

High Value Trees

Arboricultural Consultants, Living Forest, have been contracted to carry out a survey of the 10 most valuable trees on the Commons. This survey is taking place in November 2023 and will result in a full report setting out how these trees should be managed in both the short and long term.

Tree Management Policy

Now that the Ranger knows and better understands the Commons, he feels able to progress the Tree Management Policy and it will go from its current first draft status to the Committee for full consideration at their next meeting. The Policy will be in line with most standard tree policies and include survey method, preferred contractors and selection criteria.

Ranger's Way of Working

Since the Ranger was equipped with some battery operated tools in March 2023 he has explored and trialled how best to utilise the in-house tools in order to optimise financial efficiency (e.g. more in-house work being undertaken with and without volunteer assistance), additional conservation management benefits (e.g. ability to

selectively and more appropriately cut/fell with wildlife biodiversity/value in mind) and the ability to react to issues or cutting timings as and when needed or appropriate.

The Ranger is working closely with the Clerk to review and adjust the 'in-house' working -vs- contractor balance. The Ranger explained last year that this year would be different due to the need to save money due to ash dieback, whilst also allowing areas to grow longer as part of the ecological surveying project. The Ranger took on a lot of tasks himself and this presented many competing challenges.

Going forward the balance of in-house vs contractor can now become more reasonable and for next year contractors will be used in relation to management of more day-to-day areas of work, for example managing roadside grass verges and pressing needs such as bin installation (replacement and repair).

The Ranger also acknowledges that whilst trying to trial and explore new ways of working, certain areas have been a challenge to maintain in a timely manner.

New Signs

To date four bye-laws signs have been installed as follows:

- Fir Tree car park (leading onto the Racecourse).
- At the entrance to the Common adjacent to the Zebra crossing where Bishop's Down Road becomes Mount Ephraim.
- At the entrance to Happy Valley (by St Pauls Church).
- At the entrance to Common View meadow.

Four '4 hours only' signs have gone into Fir Tree car park and the new 'Welcome to the Commons' sign has been installed on the 5-bar gate by Linden Park Cricket Club.

Grass management contracts

The grass cutting contract expires at the end of March 2024, at this point revised cutting regimes, in line with the recommendations of the Management Plans, will be incorporated into new specifications for full tender. Conservators gave the Committee delegated responsibility for managing the tendering process.

Public Engagement/Volunteers

This period has been extremely successful in relation to volunteers. We now have many wildlife surveyors and a good number of regular conservation/ litter pick volunteers. We have been able to make many aesthetic improvements by refurbishing benches in-house (saving approximately £4,000 so far this year), painting railings, installing 4 new bye-laws signs, path clearance/reclamation, repairing damaged signs and removal of graffiti. This volunteer group is an extremely effective new way of working whilst at the same time being of high value in terms of public engagement.

Rangers Uniform

The Ranger now has 3 polo shirts with the Tunbridge Wells & Rusthall Commons logo. This is being well received and is already making the Ranger feel more professional when working on the commons. This is particularly important when appearing in front of or approaching the more vulnerable groups.

Archaeological update

The Clerk has been liaising with David Scully of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and in turn he has been liaising with Kent County Council's Archaeology Team to ensure that the archaeological dig site in Rusthall is being managed appropriately. In conclusion, the Ranger will be leading on a Freehold Tenant funded project to create a glade, expose a pond and the rocks at the junction of Rusthall Road and Langton Road and will be utilising West Kent Diggers to offer archaeological support.

The project will come to a natural conclusion and at this point the role of the West Kent Diggers on the site will come to an end.

Van proposal

The Clerk had prepared a proposal for funding for the purchase of a Ranger's van. The proposal included, but was not limited to, justification for the spend, the costs for a second-hand van and ongoing maintenance, funding, storage, security and tax implications.

Conservators discussed at length the alternative option of purchasing a new van, as suggested by the Treasurer, but concluded with a majority decision to purchase the second-hand van, with the Committee being given delegated responsibility to agree any additional spend as proposed e.g., on tow bar, decals, lockable strong box.

The Friends of the Commons were thanked for their offer of £2,000 towards the project costs.

10. FINANCE REPORT

Accounts

The Treasurer reported the financial accounts for the six months to 30th September 2023. On 30th September 2023, the Conservators had £142,000 in cash at the bank of which all but £250 was on deposit. This is £68,000 more than this time last year, primarily due to S106 funding from Eridge Road and the planned delays in grass cutting.

Maintenance of the Commons expenditures was £36,000 under budget and expenditure in total was £40,000 under budget including the contingency budget due to concerted efforts by the Ranger to reduce costs. However, tree work and drainage work planned for Q3 will take these lines over budget and may require Conservator permission to utilise other under budget areas.

It was agreed that the Ranger's van and enhancement work should be added as new lines in the budget.

With significant changes planned for the Commons from next year, as the ecological management plans are implemented, the impact on the budget needs to be better understood and areas of maintenance that have been omitted this year need to be accommodated.

Audit

The Treasurer reported that the external audit of the 2022/23 accounts had been completed and that the necessary documents were on the website, in accordance with the procedures.

In working through the recommendations of the internal audit, the Treasurer proposed, and Conservators agreed, that an item would be an asset if it had a value of £500 or above, therefore the Ranger's iPad would be added to the asset register, to be audited annually by the Clerk.

The Treasurer presented a final draft of the "Financial Regulations & Procedures" document, in response to a recommendation from the internal audit. The Chairman observed that this was an invaluable document and thanked the Treasurer for all of his work in getting it produced, who in turn thanks SLacey. Conservators agreed to adopt the document.

Finally, the Treasurer proposed, and Conservators agreed, that a laptop should be purchased for the Clerk, who was currently using her own.

11. MANAGEMENT PLAN

Surveys progressed well throughout the year to commence what will be an ongoing data gathering exercise to help with and support the creation of the high value Ecological Management Plans (EMPs). Surveying continues to be undertaken by a combination of consultants, the Ranger and volunteers. The survey data has been provided to consultant ecologist, Kate Ryland.

While we await the first drafts of the plans, Kate Ryland has provided the main points that will be raised, as follows:

- Improve/enhance the condition of our existing glades and meadows, as well as to increase the amount/proportion of glade/meadow space that we currently have. In addition, a key feature of the reports will be the need to improve the connectivity (e.g., wildlife corridors) between each of these spaces. This is to benefit biodiversity as well as aesthetic beauty.
- Improve the quality and condition of many of our woodland areas whilst also maintaining the tranquil ambience.
- Where appropriate, to open 'windows' to previously lost views and vistas. To get an increased feeling of open space whilst at the same time bringing back an even greater sense of the social and historical context/beauty of the Commons.
- Where possible improve our existing ponds and to also create new ponds/retain water in our wet areas for longer.

The Ranger had also consulted with Kate Ryland on project suggestions for 2024, these ideas are being developed into project proposals for consideration by the Projects Group.

Action: It was agreed that the Clerk would coordinate and schedule an additional meeting to accommodate discussions on the first draft of the Ecological Management Plans, prior to adoption in January 2024.

12. UPDATE FROM THE FRIENDS OF THE COMMONS

CEvans provided an update from the Friends of the Commons as follows:

Memberships

The current memberships stand at 533.

Projects for 2023

There are two outstanding projects for 2023, the Hungershall Park glade at the junction with Major York's Road and sycamore management on Major York's Road, both will be scheduled for Winter 2023/24.

Events

The Friends will be holding a lunch at the Spa Hotel on Sunday 19th November.

Funding

An extra £900 has been raised as a result of raising the rate of annual subscriptions.

CEvans thanked volunteers Brian Ellis and Mark Howden for their hard work to repair two notice boards that had been damaged, one by a contractor and one by anti-social behaviour.

13. MARKETING AND PR REPORT

The report highlighted that there had been three press articles in the last quarter, two in the Times of Tunbridge Wells and one on Kent Live.

The Facebook group now has 2,077 members with monthly reactions from members between 1,151 and 2,413. The most popular posts, during the quarter, related to:

- 1. Tunbridge Wells Common being awarded Gold in South and South-East In Bloom.
- 2. Images of Rusthall Common by Mark Howden.
- 3. Vandalism of the information board on the Lower Cricket Pitch.
- 4. Images of the sunrise over the Commons by Mick Fitzgerald.
- 5. Repair by volunteers of the information panel damaged by Bridgland.

The Instagram account has 469 followers, while the website has monthly users of between 374 and 859. Three blogs had been published during the last quarter which had both informed and pushed visitors to the website.

14. <u>DATES FOR FUTURE MEETINGS</u>

Dates for 2024 were agreed as follows:

Thursday 25th January 2024

Thursday 25th April 2024

Thursday 27th June 2024

Thursday 17th Oct 2024

It is a statutory requirement that all meetings are held in person going forward, therefore meetings will be held at the Rackliff Centre from 1400-1600. A zoom link would be provided for those unable to attend in person.

Action: The Clerk to book the Rackliff Centre for all meetings in 2024.

15. POLICIES – HEALTH & SAFETY

The Clerk had produced a revised version of the health and safety policy, which was approved by the Conservators.

Action: The Clerk to upload the revised policy to the website.

16. FUNDRAISING REPORT

The Clerk presented a paper that highlighted suggestions for funding over and above the day-to-day maintenance costs as funded by the precept. The paper proposed a wish list of projects, tools, equipment and other resources, an adjustment to funding for commemorative benches and fundraising appeals, grants and government funding. Conservators agreed to the proposals.

Action: The Clerk to action the proposals and keep the Conservators updated at future meetings.

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

i. Wayleave agreement from BT to install a telegraph pole on Rusthall Common in front of 13-21
Rusthall Road

PBurnett reported that since the agreement had been received, BT had advised that there was a possible change of plans.

ii. RPI increase

The Treasurer reported that the RPI increase from September 2022 to September 2023 was 8.9%, resulting in the maximum precept being requested from Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for 2024/25 of £215,678, an increase from £198,052 for 2023/24. Conservators approved the request at £215,678.

Action: The Clerk to prepare a request to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for the maximum precept of £215,678 for 2024/25.

iii. New Year's Eve Firework Display

PBurnett explained that the Pantiles would be hosting their annual New Year's Eve event and that a firework display was planned for one of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council car parks behind the Pantiles. If the Council did not grant permission, PBurnett asked permission to hold the display on Fairground Car Park. Despite there already being fireworks on the Common as part of the annual Rusthall bonfire, owing to ecological reasons the Ranger strongly recommended not granting permission for this request and after discussion the majority decision was to not grant permission.

18. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

23/00436/FULL | Permanent retention of temporary light and art installation with frame | The Forum, The Common, Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent, TN4 8YU.

Response on behalf of the Commons Conservators: On behalf of the Commons Conservators, I can confirm that we are very pleased to have been consulted, but don't have any objections to the installation.

MEETING ENDED

DATE OF NEXT MEETING – 25th January 2024, The Rackliff Centre, Rusthall.

Agreed Actions

Agenda Item	Detail	Responsibility	Progress/update
3	To collate comments from all on LPCC's café proposal and provide feedback to the Club, subsequently sharing their responses with all.	Clerk	Collated and sent to LPCC (3 rd November 2023), awaiting their response.
4&5	Chairman to sign the minutes of the previous meetings and send to the Clerk.	Chairman	Complete
11	Coordinate and schedule an additional meeting to accommodate discussions on the first draft of the Management Plans, prior to adoption in January 2024.	Clerk	Complete
14	To book the Rackliff Centre for all meetings in 2024.	Clerk	Complete
15	Upload the revised health & safety policy to the website.	Clerk	Complete

16	Action the proposals within the fundraising paper and keep the Conservators updated at future meetings.	Clerk	
17ii	To prepare a request to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for the maximum precept of £215,678 for 2024/25.		Complete